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Jennifer Barger Enyart )
Defendant(s)
CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the date(s) of  From on or about December 1, 2023 to September 4,2024 in the county of Tulsa in the

Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant(s) violated:
Code Section Offense Description
18 U.S.C. §§ 1151 and 1153; 21 Child Neglect in Indian Country
0.S. § 843.5(C)

18 U.S.C. §§ 1151, 1152, and 113 Assault with a Dangerous Weapon with Intent to do Bodily Harm in Indian
(a)(3) Country

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:
See Attached Affidavit

# Continued on the attached sheet.

Lo, Koy

Complainant’s signature

Special Agent Audra Rees

Printed name and title

Sworn to before me by phone.

Date: //" /bb’a}p-?&

Judge’s signature

City and state: Tulsa, OK ] Mark T. Steele, United States Magistrate Judge

Printed name and title




Affidavit in Support of an Arrest Warrant
in the Northern District of Oklahoma

I, Audra Rees, being duly sworn under oath, do hereby depose and state:
INTRODUCTION AND AGENT BACKGROUND

I I have been employed as a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of
Investigation since January of 2020. I am currently assigned to work Indian Country
Investigations for the Oklahoma City Division, Tulsa RA. As part of my duties as an
FBI Agent, I investigate criminal violations relating to Indian Country crimes, to
include Child abuse, in Indian country in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1151, 1153; and
21 O.S. § 843.5(A).

2. The facts and statements in this affidavit are based in part on
information provided by other law enforcement officers and on my personal
observations and training and experience as an Agent for the FBI. This affidavit is
intended to show merely that there is sufficient probable cause for the requested
warrant and does not set forth all of my knowledge about this matter.

3. It is my belief that an Indian male known as KEITH EDWARD
ENYART, | N s violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 1151,
1153; and 21 O.S. § 843.5(C) (Child Neglect in Indian Country). That from on or
about December 1, 2023, to September 4, 2024, KEITH EDWARD
ENYART, an enrolled member of the Wyandotte Nation, committed Child
Neglect in Indian Country againstillll in the Northern District of Oklahoma.

The Neglect took place at 7 Broadway Avenue, Wyandotte, Oklahoma, Ottawa
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County, which is located in the Northern District of Oklahoma and within the
Wyandotte Nation tribal boundaries, which is within “Indian Country,” as that
term is defined under 18 U.S.C. § 1151.

4. It is my belief that a non-Indian female known as JENNIFER
BARGER ENYART, |G B |5 violated 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1151, 1152, and 13; 21 O.S. § 843.5(C) (Child Neglect in Indian
Country) and 18 U.S.C. §§ 1151, 1152 and 113(a)(3) (Assault with a Dangerous
Weapon in Indian Country). That from on or about December 1, 2023 to on
or about September 4, 2024, JENNIFER BARGER ENYART, a non-Indian,
committed the crimes of Child Neglect and Assault with a Dangerous Weapon upon
J.E.1, an Indian male minor child in the Northern District of Oklahoma. The
Neglect took place at ||} ] VW yandotte, Oklahoma, Ottawa
County, which is located in the Northern District of Oklahoma and within the
Wyandotte Nation tribal boundaries, which is within “Indian Country,” as that
term is defined under 18 U.S.C. § 1151.

PROBABLE CAUSE

3. Jennifer and Keith Enyart are married. They have three children that
are biologically related to at least one of them. Two of the biological children live
with them. Jennifer and Keith Enyart adopted four other children. The child
considered the main victim in this case, Il is not biologically related to any of the
other children or to Jennifer or Keith Enyart. i} is a fifteen-year-old mentally

disabled male. Although [l is disabled, he can communicate. The three other
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adopted children share the same biological mother and father. They are Il a
sixteen-year-old male, Il a twelve-year-old female and [}, a six-year-old female.

6. The FBI obtained tribal enrollment verification for Keith Enyart. He is
an enrolled member of the Wyandotte Nation. Jennifer Enyart is not believed to be a
member or affiliated with any federally recognized tribe. [} is an enrolled member
of the Cherokee Nation INIIIING@GEEN - cnrolled members in the Choctaw
Nation.

7. On or about September 4, 2024, Indian Child Welfare (ICW) began
investigating allegations of child abuse. Investigators discovered JJjjj had many
visible injuries on his body and was taken to a doctor for an examination. The doctor
determined the injuries were likely the result of child abuse. -injuries included
bruises, cuts on his ears, scabs, and loop pattern injuries. At the time of the
examination, - was removed from the home.

8.  Considering[ R injuries, | NG, 2nd - were all
forensically interviewed. [Jjjjtold the interviewer that he and his siblings physically
beat - at the bequest of Jennifer and Keith Enyart. [Jjjjjj indicated he used to be
the main victim of physical abuse, but now he physically abuses I

9. [ later disclosed that Jennifer Enyart tazed him in the genitals.JJJij
was also later given a medical exam by a Child Abuse Pediatrician. That physician
indicated in their report that several of JJijinjuries were “consistent but not
exclusive for some injuries” regarding the use of a taser or stun gun. That physician

also concluded |Jlillinjuries were likely the result of child abuse.
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10.  When law enforcement interviewed Keith and Jennifer Enyart, they
indicated [JJli received his injuries at their home, I Vv andotte,
Oklahoma which is located in the Northern District of Oklahoma and within the
Wyandotte Nation tribal boundaries and in the front yard of that location. The
Enyart children, when interviewed, also indicated that physical abuse of -
occurred inside or in the front yard of || ||| | | JEEEE V' y2andotte, Oklahoma.

11.  This most recent allegation in September of 2024 was not the first time
an allegation of abuse was made. In December of 2023, ICW and DHS conducted an
investigation after an allegation of abuse. In the course of their investigation, they
learned from Keith Enyart that there are “cameras all over the house so that when
something happens him or Jennifer knows”.

12.  An ICW staff member who entered the residence for this current
investigation confirmed there were still indeed cameras in the home in September of
2024.

13.  Once the investigation began, witnesses began to come forward to
police. One witness told an officer about how Jennifer Enyart showed this witness a
video of Il being physically beaten by Il Jennifer Enyart indicated how she
thought this was funny and thatJjjjjiideserved it. Jennifer Enyart showed the

witness this video from her own phone.
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CONCLUSION

Based on the information set forth in this affidavit, I submit there is probable
cause to believe that KEITH EDWARD ENYART has violated 18 U.S.C. §§
1151, 1153; and 21 O.S. § 843.5(C) (Child Neglect in Indian Country) and
JENNIFER BARGER ENYART has violated 18 U.S.C. §§ 1151, 1152, and
13; 21 O.S. § 843.5(C) (Child Neglect in Indian Country) and 18 U.S.C. §§
1151, 1152 and 113(a)(3) (Assault with a Dangerous Weapon in Indian Country).

Respectfully submitted,

Lo, Koy

Special Agent Audra Rees
Federal Bureau of Investigation

Subscribed and sworn to by phone on Noyem er/ S , 20

MARK T.STEELE
UNITED STATES MAGISTRAT



